DOCUMENT RESUME

BD 101 798 JC 750 152

AUTHOR Eyler, David R.; And Others

TITLE Post-College Activities of Former

Occupational-Technical Students. Research Report No.

3.

INSTITUTION Virginia State Dept. of Community Colleges,

Richmond.

SPONS AGENCY Office of Education (DHEW), Washington, D.C.

REPORT NO RR-3
PUB DATE 74
NOTE 49p.

EDRS PRICE MF-\$0.76 HC-\$1.95 PLUS POSTAGE

DESCRIPTORS College Graduates: *Employment Experience: Followup

Studies; Graduate Surveys; *Junior Colleges;

Relevance (Education): Student Attitudes: *Student Characteristics: *Vocational Education: *Vocational

Followup: Withdrawal

ABSTRACT

This report describes post-community college activities of former occupational/technical students at 13 Virginia community colleges. The colleges identified 11,623 former students as eligible, of whom 3,433 were graduates who had earned an associate degree, diploma, or certificate. An overall response rate of 61 percent was obtained, 73 percent for graduates and 56 percent for nongraduates. The data were summarized to permit comparison of respondent groups on the basis of sex, race, graduation status, degree earned, and curriculum. The factors relating to postcollege activities included employment status, relevance of curriculum to present job, initial and present salary, extent and reasons for continuing education, reasons for withdrawal before graduation, and intention to return to college. Greater percentages of graduates than nongraduates were employed full-time. Di loma graduates had higher rates of employment than either degree or certificate graduates. The curricular areas of public service and health showed a higher degree of job congruence than other areas. The median salary for initial jobs was \$5,419 and rose to \$7,158 for present jobs. Nongraduates received higher median initial and present salaries than graduates. (Author/MJK)

POST-COLLEGE ACTIVITIES OF FORMER OCCUPATIONAL-TECHNICAL STUDENTS

Research Report No. 3

b.y

David R. Eyler Dean of Student Services Blue Ridge Community College Weyers Cave, Virginia

Sarah J. Kelly Research Associate Research and Evaluation Section Virginia Department of Community Colleges

Fred A. Snyder Director, Research and Planning Division Virginia Department of Community Colleges

Virginia Department of Community Colleges 911 East Broad Street, P. O. Box 1558 Richmond, Virginia 23212

1974



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are indebted to the Virginia community colleges whose representatives cooperated in this study. Appreciation is also expressed to the former students who participated by completing the questionnaires.

The activity which is the subject of this report was supported in part by the U. S. Office of Education, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. However, the opinions expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the U. S. Office of Education, and no official endorsement by the U.S.O.E. should be inferred.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section	Page
LIST OF TABLES	iv
INTRODUCTION	1
Overview of the Total Project	I
Literature Review	2
Research Questions	3
Data Analysis	3
Limitations	4
Definitions of Terms	4
Summary of First Report	5
RESULTS	7
Present Employment Status	i
State in Which Presently Employed	ġ
Distance from College to Present Employment	12
Curricular Relatedness to Employment	12
Salary	17
Continued Education	21
Discontinued Education	26
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	30
Summary of Findings	30
Implications	7.2
Recommendations for Further Research	34
REFERENCES	37
APPENDIX A. COLLEGE DATA FORM	30
APPENDIX B. SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE	39
APPENDIX C. CURRICULAR AREAS	43



LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Present Employment Status	ૃધ
2.	State in Which Presently Employed	10
3.	Distance from College to Present Employment	11
4.	Curricular Relatedness to First Job after College	13
5.	Curricular Relatedness to Present Job	14
6.	Reasons Present Job Not Related to Curriculum	16
7.	Initial Salary after College	18
8.	Present Salary	Ιò
9.	Median Salary for Graduates and Nongraduates	٥٥
10.	Extent of Continued Education	22
11.	Reasons for Continuing Education	23
12.	Relatedness of Later Study to Previous Curriculum	25
13.	Reasons for Nongraduates Discontinuing Attendance	27
14.	Nongraduates! Intentions of Returning to the Community	20



BEST COPY AVAILABLE

INTRODUCTION

This report describes post-community college activities of former occupational-technical students at Virginia community colleges and compares various subgroups within that population. It is the second of three research reports on a follow-up study conducted by the Virginia Department of Community Colleges. The first report (Gustilo & Trufant, 1974) provides information about the students' personal and demographic characteristics and a detailed description of the total project. A third report (Trufant, Kelly, & Pullen, 1974) describes and compares students' attitudes toward their community college experience and current employment.

Occupational-technical programs are designed to prepare student. for employment in technical, paraprofessional, and vocational jobs. Although these programs usually lead to a formal certificate, diploma, or associate degree, community college records indicate that a majority of the students take employment prior to completing their program requirements. This follow-up study was carried out to provide answers to questions about program outcomes for both graduates and nongraduates. The study was supported substantially with research funds administered by the Division of Vocational Education, Virginia Department of Education.

Overview of the Total Project

During early 1972 an extensive data collection effort was directed toward the entire population of former students of the Virginia Community College System who had been enrolled in occupational-technical programs anytime from fall 1966 through fall 1969. Graduates who had earned associate degrees, diplomas or certificates from 1966 through 1971 were included. Former students who had changed either to or from occupational-technical programs were also included.

The study was designed to examine characteristics, attitudes and postcollege activities of former students, as indicated by the following objectives:

- 1. To identify selected personal and demographic characteristics of former students in occupational-technical programs.
- 2. To identify the postcollege activities of former students.
- 3. To study the attitudes of former students toward their community college experience and current employment.
- 4. To study patterns of student retention and withdrawal.



1

5. To examine differences among graduates and nongraduates, and among the several types of graduates in terms of their characteristics, postcollege activities, and personal evaluations of college experience and employment.

Thirteen of the Virginia Community College System's colleges were in operation by fail 1969 and had students eligible for the study. According to a prescribed procedure and format (see Gustilo & Trufant, 1974), the individual colleges identified 11,623 former students as eligible, of whom 3,433 were graduates who had earned an associate degree, diploma or certificate. A college data form (Appendix A) was sent to community college personnel, who provided basic information from students' college records. A questionnaire (Appendix B) was then mailed to all subjects and a three phase follow-up effort to collect responses was implemented. Twelve percent of the intended mailings were returned as undeliverable. An overall response rate of 61 percent was obtained, 73 percent for graduates and 56 percent for nongraduates.

Telephone interviews were conducted with a five percent random sample of nonrespondents as a check on nonresponse bias. Selected items from the questionnaire and from the data supplied by the colleges were used to test for differences between respondents and nonrespondents. Significant differences between the two groups were indicated by the following factors: fathers' education, initial postcollege salaries, and respondents' ratings of job satisfaction, technical knowledge gained at community colleges, counseling services, and the overall community college experience. The differences which were significant were sensitive areas which might be biased by the loss of anonymity involved in substituting telephone conversations for questionnaires.

Literature Review

An examination of current community college literature, the <u>ERIC</u>
Research in <u>Education Annual Index</u> (1970, 1971, 1972), and available private studies revealed a considerable amount of data on student characteristics and attitudes but little information on their postcollege activities. The dearth of substantial information about postcollege activities was even more severe when the inquiry was limited to occupational-technical students.

Snyder and others (1972) did an extensive study of the activities of occupational-technical graduates from Harrisburg Area Community College. Limited aspects of occupational-technical students' postcollege activities were examined in the following small-scale studies: University of Hawaii (1972), Portland Community College (1972), and Gaddis (1970). On the national level, Monroe (1972), Koos (1970), Cross (1971), Bushnell (1973) and Thornton (1972) presented representative studies of community college programs and students; but none of these studies developed information about postcollege activities of occupational-technical students.

Noting that attempts at occupational-technical follow-up lack convenient and quantifiable measures of success such as grade point average for college transfer students, Thornton (1972) acknowledged that:



The 'follow-up' of graduates and former students is an important part of the self-evaluation of the community junior college (p. 275). Of the two aspects of follow-up, junior colleges have been more concerned with former students who have gone on to upper-division study in colleges and universities. Few studies are reported of the success of vocationally trained graduates in finding employment in the area of their training and their comparative success after placement. Both aspects are essential to a complete follow-up program (p. 276).

In summary, a review of the literature indicates the need for objective studies of postcollege activities of former occupational-technical students but provides little precedent in his area. There is a paucity of research relating directly to the ose of the present study, which is to provide a basis for evaluating indoccupational-technical programs within the Virginia Community College System.

Research Questions

The following research questions are investigated in this report. The findings reported are in answer to these questions, and the summary is presented in terms of the research questions.

- I. What types of employment and other postcollege endeavors have former students engaged in since leaving community colleges?
- 2. What proportions have engaged in activities directly related to their community college training and education?
- 3. What were their initial and present salaries?
- 4. What proportions have found employment within their home localities or within Virginia?
- 5. What proportions have continued their education and how consistent was that continued education with college programs?
- 6. What reasons were given by nongraduates for not completing their community college programs?
- 7. What differences in postcollege activities vary with sex, race, curriculum, graduation status, and type of graduation credential?

Data Analysis

The method of analysis for the collected data was entirely descriptive. Automated data processing procedures were used to collate the various inputs and to produce usable data summaries. The data were summarized to permit comparison of respondent groups on the basis of sex, race, graduation status, graduation credential, and curriculum.



3

In order to analyze findings by useful curricular groupings, the individual curricula were grouped into six areas which contained similar or related programs. Appendix C enumerates the individual curricula encompassed by each of the curricular areas. Readers are referred to the companion report by Gustilo and Trufant (1974) for a more detailed treatment of the data analysis.

Limitations

- 1. The findings do not include data on prior work experience of students, full-time or part-time attendance, and day or evening status. Information about these variables would facilitate interpretation of certain findings.
- 2. Any student who had completed at least one occupationaltechnical course was included in the occupational-technical population. Findings about students with very few credit hours in occupational-technical programs may not adequately reflect the effects of these programs.
- 3. Any student who had not completed a degree program was classified as a nongraduate; number of credit hours earned was not reported. Some nongraduates earned as many or more credit hours than did graduates.
- 4. The analyses of data in this report were descriptive; no inference tests nor multivariate analyses were carried out.

Definitions of Terms

Certain terms need to be defined according to their use in this report. The following definitions should be noted:

- Occupational-technical program a program designed to prepare technicians, semi-professional workers, and skilled craftsmen for employment
- Transfer program a program including college freshman and sophomore courses in the arts and sciences and preprofessional courses meeting standards acceptable for transfer to baccalaureate degree programs
- 3. Associate in Applied Science (AAS) degree program a two-year program designed primarily to provide competence for employment in a specific occupational field
- 4. Diploma program a two-year program which normally excludes general education and is designed to provide occupational competence in a specific field
- 5. Certificate program a program normally of one year's duration which provides competence in a specific job or family of jobs



4

- 6. Graduate any respondent who had earned an AAS degree, diploma, or certificate in an occupational-technical program
- 7. Nongraduate any respondent who had enrolled in an occupational-technical program but had not earned an award
- 8. Minority any person (or group) other than white, including Afro-American, Oriental, American Indian, and Spanish-surnamed American
- 9. Developmental student a student who had enrolled in a preparatory mathematics or English course as a prerequisite for admission to an occupational-technical or college transfer program
- 10. Unclassified student a student who had not been formally admitted to an occupational-technical or transfer program and who could not be classified by freshman or sophomore level

Summary of the First Report

The first report (Gustilo & Trufant, 1974) contains a detailed description of the total project and describes background characteristics of the respondents. A summary of these characteristics is provided in the following paragraphs.

Enrollments in various curricula and degree programs were not evenly distributed. Slightly more than half of the respondents were in business curricula, and an additional one-third were in engineering. Most of the graduates had earned AAS degrees, rather than diplomas or certificates.

About seven-tenths of total respondents were men, but among minority respondents the percentages of men and women were nearly equal. Proportionally more women than men had graduated at the time of the survey. Most men were in engineering or business curricula, while women overwhelmingly chose business.

White and minority groups showed different patterns of distribution by curriculum, graduation status, and graduation credential. While minority respondents tended to enroll in business and health curricula, whites chose public service and engineering. Proportionally more whites than minorities had graduated at the time of the survey. Whites more often earned AAS degrees and diplomas, while minorities more frequently earned certificates.

Age and marital status varied for men and women. The median age of all respondents was 22.8 years, with men approximately one year older than women. Although the majority of all respondents were married, this proportion was greater for men than for women.



About one in three parents of the former students had no formal education beyond the eighth grade. Fathers of AAS degree graduates were generally better educated than fathers of other graduates. Minority parents tended to have less formal education than white parents.

Grade point average varied by sex, race, graduation status, and graduation credential. On the average, women had higher GPAs than men, and whites earned better grades than minorities. Graduates had higher GPAs than nongraduates, and those with diplomas had the highest GPAs of all graduates.



RESULTS

The following factors relating to the postcollege activities of former occupational-technical students are reported:

- 1. Present employment status
- 2. State in which presently employed
- 3. Distance from college to present employment
- 4. Curricular relatedness to first job
- 5. Curricular relatedness to present job
- 6. Reasons present job not related to curriculum
- 7. Initial salary
- 8. Present salary
- 9. Extent of continued education
- 10. Reasons for continuing education
- 11. Relatedness of later study to previous curriculum
- 12. Reasons for nongraduates' discontinuing attendance
- 13. Nongraduates' intentions of returning to the community college

Each of these factors is examined across the five variables of sex, race, graduation status, graduation credential, and curriculum. The findings for each factor are presented in a separate table, arranged to show results across the five variables.

Present Employment Status

Former students were asked to indicate their employment status at the time of the study by selecting one of seven categories. The results are as follows:

Employment Status	Percent
Employed full-time	72
College full-time	8
Military services	5
Homemaker	5
Employed part-time	5
Unemployed	3
Other	2

Ninety percent of the former students were engaged in full-time pursuit of career, college, military service, or homemaking. Table I shows more complete information about the activity for former students and is the appropriate reference for the comments which follow.



TABLE | Present Employment Status

		Percent by Response Category ^a						
Group	N	Full- Time	Part- Time	College Full- Time	Military	Home- maker	Unemployed	Cther
	-			Sex				
Male Female Total	4,272 1,863 6,135	76 64 72	4 8 5	8 7 8	8 - 5	15 5	2 4 3	2 2 2
				Race	<u> </u>			
White Minority	5,421 714	73 66	5 8	8 9	6 5	4	2 6	2 2
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		·	Gradua	ntion Stat	rus		,	
Graduate Nongraduate	2,227 3,908	78 69	4 6	7 9	4 6	4 5	2 3	1 2
		(Graduati	on Creder	ntial			
AAS Diploma Certificate	1,389 380 447	75 88 77	4 1 4	9 1 4	4 6 2	4 2 9	2 2 3	2
Curricular Area								
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	3,088 136 2,019 324 368 182	70 51 78 61 76 76	5 9 4 14 4 7	8 20 6 9 9	5 5 8 1 5 2	7 6 1 12 2 3	3 7 2 2 2 2 3	1 3 2 2 1

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Rcw}$ totals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm +}{\rm -}$ 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.

Men reported full-time employment more frequently than women (76% and 64%). However, the percentage of women working part-time was twice that of men (8% and 4%), and 15 percent of the women were homemakers. About equal proportions of women and men were enrolled full-time at college (7% and 8%). Among men, equal numbers were in the military and in college full-time.

Proportionally more white than minority respondents reported fulltime employment (73% and 66%). Both groups reported nearly equal fulltime college attendance (9% and 8%) and equal homemaking occupation (4%). Minority students indicated more part-time employment (8% and 5%) and unemployment (6% and 2%).

Graduates, more than nongraduates, reported full-time employment (78% and 69%). Nongraduates reported slightly more full-time college attendance (9% and 7%), more military service (6% and 4%), and more part-time employment (6% and 4%).

The highest rate of full-time employment (88%) was reported by diploma graduates. About equal proportions of certificate and AAS degree recipients were employed full-time (77% and 75%). AAS degree graduates were much more likely to be enrolled in full-time college study than were diploma and certificate graduates (9%, 1% and 4%). Certificate graduates were more often homemakers than were graduates from diploma and degree programs (9%, 2% and 4%).

Former students from the six curricular areas reported full-time employment status as follows:

Curricular Area	Percent Employed
Engineering	78 .
Public Service	76
Other	76
Business	70
Health	61
Communications	51

Former communications students, who reported the least full-time employment, were enrolled full-time in college (20%) or were unemployed (7%) more than twice as frequently as other students. Those who had been students in health programs showed greater percentages in part-time employment (14%) and homemaking (12%) than did those from other curricular areas.

State in Which Presently Employed

Former occupational-technical students were overwhelmingly employed in Virginia or adjacent areas, as noted in the following tabulation. Nearly nine out of ten (88%) were working in Virginia, and an additional four percent were employed in the District of Columbia.



TABLE 2
State in Which Presently Employed

		Percent by Response Category ^a							
Group	N	VA	MD	WV	NC	TN	DC	KY	Other
			Sex		, W.				
Male Female Total	3,141 1,157 4,298	88 87 88	2 ! !	i - i	2 2 2	1 1	4 6 4	-	3 4 3
		-	Race						
White Minority	3,845 453	88 87	i	-	2 2	-	4 8	-	3 2
		Grad	luation	Status					
Graduate Nongraduate	1,687 2,611	86 90	2 i	-	3	‡ ‡	4	-	3 3
		Gradua	ition Cr	edentia	1				
AAS Diploma Certificate	1,014 330 338	83 86 93	2 - 1	.	2 6 2	1 3 1	7 ! !	-	3 3 2
Curricular Area									
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	1,819 65 1,536 190 280 133	87 94 90 88 90 83	2 2 1 - 1 5	1	1 3 3 3 - 2	 - - -	6 2 4 5 8	-	3 2 2 4 3 2

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Row}$ totals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm +}{\rm -}$ 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.



TABLE 3

Distance from College to Present Employment

		Percent by Response Category ^a			
Group	N	Up to 25 Miles	25-49 Miles	50-99 Miles	100 Miles and Over
		Sex			
Male Female Total	3,155 1,156 4,311	58 73 69	13 11 13	6 4 6	13 13 13
		Race			
White Minority	3,856 455	69 74	. 13 10	6 3	13
	G	raduation Statu	S		
Graduate Nongraduate	1,701 2,610	61 75	15 11	7 4	17 10
	Gra	duation Credent	·ial		
AAS Diploma Cartificate	1,030 330 336	66 40 64	13 18 16	5 16 6	15 26 14
		Curricular Area	1		
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	2,100 65 1,541 191 279 135	71 59 64 69 83 68	13 15 13 12 7 17	4 15 8 4 · 3 3	12 11 15 15 7

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Row}$ totals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm +}{\rm -}$ 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.



State	Percent Employed
Virginia	88
District of Columbia	4
North Carolina	?
Maryland	1
Tennessee	•
West Virginia	•
Other	3

The geographical employing regions are further examined in terms of sex, race, graduation and curriculum in Table 2. A higher percentage of minorities than whites (8% and 4%) and of women than men (6% and 4%) were working in the District of Columbia. Slightly more nongraduates than graduates remained in Virginia (90% and 86%). Certificate graduates were more likely to be employed in Virginia than were either diploma or associate degree graduates (93%, 86% and 83%). AAS and diploma graduates showed a similar location pattern, except that AAS students who left Virginia tended to locate in Washington, D.C., while diploma students chose North Carolina. Curricular area does not appear to be related to location of employment.

Distance from College to Present Employment

Most former students were employed in the general area where they had attended college. Sixty-nine percent of the total group were employed within 25 miles of their former college, 81 percent within 50 miles, and 87 percent within 100 miles (Table 3).

There were no differences in distance from former college to place of employment by sex or race, but nongraduates were more frequently employed locally than were graduates. Diploma graduates were employed further from the college than other graduates. Proportionally more public service graduates worked near the college than did graduates from other curricular areas.

Curricular Relatedness to Employment

The following discussion deals with job congruence, i.e., the relationship between community college curricula and subsequent jobs. Tables 4 and 5 contain detailed data on job congruence for first and present jobs. Table 6 shows reasons given for unrelated employment.

First jobs following community college attendance were very much related to curricula for 40 percent of former students, while present jobs were very much related for 48 percent of the students. In addition, 20 percent of first jobs and 24 percent of present jobs were reported to be somewhat related to college training. Very little or no relationship between jobs and college training was reported by 40 percent for first jobs and 28 percent for present employment. Overall job congruence (very much or somewhat relatedness) rose from 60 percent for first jobs after college to 72 percent for present jobs.



TABLE 4
Curricular Relatedness to First Job after College

		Percent by Response Category ^a				
Group	N	Yes, Very Much	Yes, Somewhat	No, or Very Little		
		Sex	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
Male Female Total	2,503 965 3,468	37 50 40	21 19 20	43 31 40		
		Race				
White Minority	3,126 342	41 33	21 13	38 54		
**************************************	Grad	uation Status				
Graduate Nongraduate	1,460 2,008	51 33	20 20	30 47		
	Gradua	tion Credential				
AAS Diploma Certificate	897 283 276	49 56 51	21 16 18	30 28 31		
	, Cur	ricular Area				
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	1,713 58 1,240 161 179	36 26 41 75 48 44	23 12 21 5 7	41 62 39 21 45 39		

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Row}$ totals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm +}{\rm -}$ 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.

TABLE 5
Curricular Relatedness to Present Job

		Percent	by Response Category ^a	
Group	N	Yes, Very Much	Yes, Somewhat	No, or Very Little
	<u> </u>	Sex		
Male Female Total	2,925 1,049 3,974	44 61 48	25 20 24	32 19 28
		Race		
White Minority	3,573 401	49 43	24 23	28 34
	Grad	uation Status		·
Graduate Nongraduate	1,560 2,414	59 41	22 25	20 34
	Gradua	tion Credential		
AAS Diploma Certificate	945 300 310	59 59 60	23 18 20	18 24 20
	Cur	ricular Area		
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	1,928 56 1,434 170 258 128	44 43 45 85 73 48	27 16 24 7 5 27	29 41 31 8 22 25

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Row}$ ictals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm +}{\rm -}$ 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.

Greater job congruence was reported by women than men, by graduates than nongraduates, and by whites than minorities. Women indicated very much job congruence 13 percent more frequently than men for first jobs after college and 17 percent more for present jobs. For both first and present jobs, graduates reported very much job congruence 18 percent more often than did nongraduates. Minorities reported little or no job congruence far more frequently for first jobs than present jobs (54% and 34%), while whites indicated a less dramatic change (38% and 28% for first and present jobs, respectively). Little difference was found for type of graduation credential.

The following tabulation shows that job congruence was highest in the health area and lowest in the communications area for both first and present jobs. All curricular areas showed marked increases in job congruence from initial to present jobs.

Curricular Area	Percent Reporting Initial Job Very Much or Somewhat Related	Percent Reporting Present Job Very Much or Somewhat Related
Health	80	92
Public Service	55	78
Other	61	75
Business	59	71
Engineering	62	69
Communications	38	59

In summary, more than seven of ten former students were holding jobs at the time of the study that were at least somewhat related to their community college training. Graduates, women, and whites reported greater job congruence than did their counterpart groups. Curricular areas having very specifically delineated vocational roles (i.e., public service with police science, and health with nursing) accounted for a higher level of present job congruence than did the more general areas such as communications.

Former students whose employment was not congruent with their curriculum reported the following reasons, listed in rank order. Since multiple reasons were allowed, the sum of listed reasons exceeds 100 percent.

Reason Job Not Related	Percent
Prefer work in another area	29
Not sufficiently qualified	29
No job in field of preparation	27
Better pay in another field	27 .
Other	10
Got new job by continuing education	4

As the above summary indicates, no particular reason appears to predominate. However, there are some notable differences among groups of respondents (Table 6). A higher percentage of women than men reported no job in their field of preparation, and few women were attracted by



TABLE 6
Reasons Present Job Not Related to Curriculum

			Perc	ent by Re	sponse Category	a	•
Group	N	No Job In Field of Prep.	Better Pay In Another Field	Prefer Work in Another Field	Qualified For New Job By Continuing Education	Not Sufficiently Qualified	Othe
	A		Sex			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
Male Female Total	877 185 1,062	25 36 27	28 21 27	29 28 29	4 4 4	29 29 29	10 11 10
	 		Race	•			
White Minority	937 125	26 35	28 15	31 18	4 6	28 38	10
		•	Graduation	Status			
Graduate Nongraduate	297 765	48 19	28 26	24 31	2 4	12 36	13
			Graduation (Credential			
AAS - Diploma Certificate	165 70 61	49 37 59	28 34 21	22 27 21	3 !	13 9 13	15 16 5
	<u> </u>		Curricula	er Area			
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	521 23 421 12 53 6	30 35 25 8 17 25	27 13 28 33 21 28	30 13 30 17 23 25	4 9 3 8 6 3	31 35 28 33 28 16	9 4 10 17 21 19

^{*}More than one response possible, therefore, totals may not equal 100%.

better pay in another field. Minorities, more than whites, reported no job in their field of preparation and indicated they were not sufficiently qualified. The percentage of whites who found better pay in another field or found another field in which they preferred to work was nearly twice that of minorities. The reader must remember that these percentages are based on only those respondents whose present jobs were not related to curricula.

Half of the graduates whose employment was not related to college curriculum cited no job in their field of preparation. Nongraduates indicated most often that they were not sufficiently qualified, or they preferred to work in another field. Health and public service students had the least difficulty in locating jobs in their field of preparation, while communications and business students reported the greatest difficulty.

Salary

All respondents who were employed full-time were asked to indicate their initial salaries after community college attendance and their present salaries (Tables 7 and 8). The time lapse between initial and present jobs is not the same for all respondents, since they left college at any time from 1966 to 1971. Thus, some of the present salaries reported may be equivalent to initial salaries, whereas others may represent five years of postcollege experience. A brief summary of salaries reported by subgroups is shown below:

Group	Initial Median Salary	Present <u>Median Salary</u>
Men	\$5830	\$7783
Women	4222	5162
White	5472	7535
Minority	4934	6359
Graduate	5320	6759
Nongraduate :	5481	7409
Total	5419	7158

women, compared to men, and minorities, compared to whites, showed both lower initial salaries and smaller rates of salary increase. The initial median salary for women was 72 percent of that reported for men, and the present median salary for women had fallen comparatively to 66 percent of that for men. Median salaries had increased by 22 percent for women and by 33 percent for men. Similarly, the initial median salary for minority students was 90 percent of that reported for whites, and the present median salary for minorities had fallen relatively to 88 percent of that for whites. The median salary for minorities had increased by 29 percent, compared to 32 percent for whites.



TABLE 7

Initial Salary after College

							+-	by Response	- 11	Category	000	200 0.0	:	612 614
Group	Z	Median Income A	8	Up to \$2,999	\$3,000 to \$3,999	\$4,000 tc \$4,999	\$5,000 to \$5,999	\$6,000 to \$6,999	\$7,900 tc \$7,999	\$8,939 \$8,939	\$9,000 to \$9,999	\$10,000 to \$10,999	\$11,000 to \$11,999	and Over
							Sex							
Male Fenale	2,793	\$5,830	ននេ	28:	6 52 1	22:	15	ō 0 7	4 ~ 5	œ ι∧ v	4 — H	wic	- 1 -	W 1 V
lotal	2,121	\$2,419	G	2		ł	Race		7	P				
White Minority	3,372 365	\$5,472 \$4,934	ឧឧ	12	13	71	71	12	12	7	2 3	2 2	-	2.2
						Graduation	tion Status	ţn\$						
Graduate Nongraduate	1,505	\$5,320	22	- 2	14	<u>6</u> 91	17 71	16 13	£ =	७७	0 W	m	1	- m
					9	sraduatic	raduation Credentia	ıtial						
AAS	930	\$5,800	20 8	Φ:	= 9	81	7:	8 6	9 2	~ a	0 r	- 1	1 1	
Uipioma Certificate	274	\$3,869	1	23	3,	292	12	3 ~	2	2	\-\	2	•	
						Curric	Curricular Area	2						
Bus!ness	1,784	\$4,939		<u>5</u>	11	6	9	21	o v (īV (W (7	(m
Communications	53	\$4,373		<u>o</u> :	بائ ا		n :	es i	*	7 1	~ •	ŧ C	7 -	~ (
Engireering Health	1.40	55,689		<u>=</u> 9	2 2	_ 9	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	2 8	~ Ø	0 W	V	- 1	y
Public Service	225	\$7,832	28	w.	<u></u>	4	4	<u> </u>	25	W.	~ r	æ	•	M
Other	=	\$5,216	-	وا	22	2	8	2	2	1	1	7		

^aRow totals may vary as much as _2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.



TABLE 8

Present Salary

							Porcon+	hy Rechonce		en Jour				
Group	Z	Median Income Ao	Age	Up to \$2.999	\$3,000 to \$3,999	\$4,000 to \$4,999	\$5,000 to \$5,999	1 54 4	\$7,000 \$8,000 to	\$8,000 to	\$9,000 43 to \$9,999	\$10,000	\$11,000 to	\$12,000 and Over
			+				Sex		4		1			
Male Fenale Total	2,891 1,038 3,929	\$7,783 \$5,162 \$7,158	ឧឧឧ	-42	w 25 a	7 21	12 20 14	Z = Z	5 0 Z	ō∞ <u>4</u>	0 × B	8 – 9	aın	0-1
							Race							
wnite Minor:ty	3,529	\$7,235	ឧឧ	9	ဖစ္	- 4	14 15	55	13	4 =	ໝະກ	υœ	M W	1-8
						Graduation	tion Status	rus						
Graduate Nongraduate	1,571	\$6,759 \$7,409	22	110	6	7.0	9 E	55	15	<u>1</u> 2	r 0	N P	7 4	٠ 6
						Graduation	on Credentias	ntiai						
A4S Diploma Certificate	955 302 311	\$7,316 \$7,249 \$4,300	ឧឧឧ	10	241	= 0 %	15 21	<u> 4 70 e</u>	16 21 6	<u>3</u> 8 €	61.0	9 7 7	WMI	1 7 2
						Curri	Curricular Area	œ.						
Business Communications	1,594	\$5,426 \$4,832	22	mı	Ø 17	71	16	22	22	ō w	ÓΜ	iv u	MN	6 0 (4)
Ergineering Hosith	1,423	\$7,60			א נא	~ =	17	₩ 5	8 7	7%	. ON V	\$	MI	'nο
Public Service Other	258	\$3,316 \$6,499		. – ₁ 2	22	2	9 9 9	<u> </u>	.8 E	18°	3 <u>7</u> 0	12 7	IC CI	4 •\$ M/

**Row totals may vary as much as 1 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rouncing error.



:

TABLE 9

Median Salary for Graduates and Nongraduates

		Grade	Graduates			Nongra	Nongraduates	
Group	Z	Initial Median	2	Present Median	Z	initial Median	Z	Present Median
				Sex				
Male Female	1,010	. \$5,818 4,289	1,042	\$7,493 5,659	1,783	\$5,838 4,117	1,849	\$7,978 5,259
Total	1,505	5,320	1,571	6,759	2,232	5,481	2,358	7,409
				Race				
White Minority	1,373	\$5,401 4,624	1,428	\$6,850 5,724	1,959	\$5,521 5,173	2,101	\$7,493 6,670

Interestingly, the earnings of nongraduates exceeded those of graduates for both initial and present jobs. Initially, nongraduates earned 3 percent more than graduates; for present salaries the difference had grown to nearly 9 percent. The median salary cain for graduates was 27 percent, compared with 35 percent for nongraduates. In order to clarify these differences, graduate and nongraduate groups were further broken down by sex and race (Table 9). Although nongraduate men had much higher median salaries than graduate men, graduate women earned consistently higher salaries than nongraduate women. Minority and white nongraduates earned more than their graduate counterparts, but the salary difference was greater for minorities. Possible explanations for these differences will be presented in the implications section.

Among graduate groups, the salaries of AAS graduates and diploma graduates were comparable for both initial and present jobs, as shown in the following tabulation. Initial and present salaries for certificate graduates were far below those of the other graduate groups.

Graduation	Initial	Present
Credential	Median Salary	<u>Median Salary</u>
AAS	\$5800	\$7316
Diploma	5687	7249
Certificate	3869	4800

Notable differences in salaries occurred among curricular groups. Public service salaries were highest, as shown in the tabulation which follows. Business and communications salaries were lowest.

Curricular Area	Initial Median Salary	Present Median Salary
Public Service	\$783 2	\$8316
Engineering	5689	7601
Health	6317	7147
Other	5216	6499
Business	4939	5426
Communications	4373	4832

Continued Education

Respondents were asked to what extent they had continued their education after leaving the community college, why they had elected to pursue further study, and the extent to which that study was related to their community college curriculum (Tables 10, 11, and 12). The extent of continued education by all former students is shown in the tabulation which follows. Since multiple responses were possible, the total exceeds 100 percent. It is important to remember that this study deals with former occupational-technical students, whose primary goal was immediate employment rather than baccalaureate study.



TABLE 10

Extent of Continued Education

			THE REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN TWO IS NOT THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN TWO IS NAMED IN COLUMN	The state of the s						
		Still Enrolled		Completed An Employer	Courses At Another		Completed An	Completed A	Masters Degree	-
		At Comm.	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Training	2-Yr.	College	Associate	Bachelors	ō	4
Group	2	Col lege	None	Program	Col lege	or univ.	Degree	Degree	Beyond	OTher
					Sex					
Male	4.189	5	42	. 24	m	=	m	7	1	
Female	1,860	2	22	2	m	φ		-	1	Φ,
Total	6,049	5	48	20	3	으	3	2	•	2
					Race					
White	5,336	5	47	21	M	2	M	8	•	2
Minority	713		49	19	3	6	2		+	=
				Gra	Graduation Status					
Graduate	2,222	'n	53	22	7	<u> </u>	4	W	ı	2
Nongraduate	3,827	,	44	19	3	60	2	-		2
				Gradu	Graduation Credentia					
AAS	1,385		48	22	2	82	7	īU	ŧ	=
Diploma	376	str. (3 2 :	32	M.	%	-	1	ı	2 4
Certificate	449		99	17	-	2	_	*	•	80
				<u>.</u> ਹ	Curricular Area					
Business	3,081	4	52	9	M	9	7	7	1	O,
Communications	129		37	9		91	Φ.	7		12
Engineering	1,967		\$	12	M	€	7		1	2
Health	317		48	ឧ	m	Ŋ	4		1	2
Public Service	375	82	8	200		7	4	4	1	2
Other	90		21	<u>.</u>	•	α-	V			•

amore than one response possible, therefore, totals may not equal 100%.



· 100

TABLE 11 Reasons for Continuing Education

			Percen	t by Response	Category ^a		
Group	N	Prep. For Oppor. In Present Job	improve Skills in Present Job	Genl. Educ. Person. Sat.	To Change Occupation	Expected By Employ.	Other
			Şex				
Male Female Total	1,936 551 2,507	49 37 46	41 38 40	46 52 47	13 14 13	14 9 13	7 9 7
			Ruce)			
White Minority	2,229 278	47 40	41 32	48 44	13 17	13 10	7 8
		******	Graduation	Status			
Graduate Nongraduate	916 1,591	50 44	43 38	52 45	11 15	14 13	4 9
		y - y 4 (1 d - 1 	Graduation C	credential	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· • · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AAS Diploma Certificate	619 164 124	52 52 36	40 61 38	56 43 44	10 8 12	13 20 11	4 1 5
			Curricula	r Area			
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	914 120	42 41 50 48 50 46	36 26 46 52 40 31	49 61 43 47 47 63	14 10 14 8 11	11 8 17 12 13	9 10 4 5 10 7

^aMore than one response possible, therefore, totals may not equal 100%.

Extent of Continued Education	Percent
None	48
Employer training program	20
Still at community college	15
Courses at 4-year college	10
Other	10
Courses at another 2-year college	3
Completed an associate degree	3
Completed a bachelor's degree	2
Completed a master's degree or beyond	Ō

Half of the respondents continued their education in some way. The most frequent means of continued education was through employer training programs. Twenty-eight percent of the students had attended a community college, another two-year college, or a four-year college. Two percent had completed bachelor's degrees at the time of the survey.

Extent of continued education did not vary by race, but there were differences by sex, graduation status and credentials (Table 10). Fewer women than men continued education beyond community college. Proportionally more graduates than nongraduates were enrolled at four-year colleges (13% and 8%). Associate degree graduates attended four-year colleges more frequently than diploma or certificate graduates. Diploma graduates more frequently participated in employer training, and certificate graduates tended to remain enrolled at community colleges.

Among curricular groups, former public service participants most often continued their education (Table 10). Four of ten remained enrolled in community colleges at the time of the study, and many were involved in employer training programs and four-year college programs. Four percent received bachelor degrees after leaving the community college, and four percent completed associate degrees (presumably at community colleges in other states).

The most commonly expressed reasons for pursuing further education were desire for more general education and personal satisfaction, preparation for opportunities in present jobs, and improvement of skills used in present jobs. The tabulation which follows presents the reasons in rank order. Because multiple responses were permitted, the total is greater than 100 percent.

Reason for Continued Education	Percent
General education and personal satisfaction Prepare for opportunities in present job Improve skills in present job	47 46 40 13
Expected by employer To change occupation Other	13 7

Men were more concerned than women with job advancement and employer expectations, while women led slightly in noting personal satisfaction



TABLE 12
Relatedness of Later Study to Previous Curriculum

		Percent	by Response C	Category ^a
Group	N	Yes, Very Much	Yes, Somewhat	No, or Very Little
		Sex		<u> </u>
Male Female Total	1,952 545 2,497	43 44 43	34 27 32	24 28 25
		Race		
White Minority	2,222 275	43 42	32 34	25 24
	Gradu	uation Status		i Tana Talan and Tanan and Tanan
Graduate Nongraduate	911 1,586	51 38	30 34	19 28
	Graduat	ion Credential		
AAS Diploma Certificate	618 160 126	55 46 44	29 34 28	17 20 28
	Çurr	icular Area		
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	1,117 65 907 118 193 97	42 35 38 67 61 40	32 28 35 22 24 36	26 37 27 11 15 24

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Row}$ totals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm +}{\rm -}$ 2 percent in several cases due to cumulative rounding error.



and general education as reasons for continuing education (Table II). Whites, compared to minorities, and graduates, compared to nongraduates, had similar motivations for continuing education. Whites and graduates were more oncerned with advancement in present jobs, skill improvement, and general education and satisfaction than were minorities and nongraduates. The latter were more motivated toward occupational change.

Higher percentages of associate degree and diploma graduates than certificate holders noted preparation for advancement in present jobs as a reason for continued education. Diploma graduates exceeded the other groups in concern for improving present job skills. AAS degree graduates surpassed diploma and certificate holders in their interest in general education and personal satisfaction.

Responses by curricular areas were fairly evenly distributed (Table II). Communications students demonstrated the highest degree of concern with general education and personal satisfaction, while indicating the least interest of any group in improving job skills or meeting employer expectations.

Former students who had pursued further education were asked how closely it related to their earlier community college curriculum (Table 12). Three out of four responded that continued education had been either very much or somewhat related to previous study. Response patterns for sex and race were essentially the same as those for the total group. Graduates, associate degree holders, and health and public service students reported higher levels of relatedness than did their counterpart groups.

Discontinued Education

Respondents who had discontinued their course work at a community college were asked to give reasons for their decision (Table 13), and to indicate whether they planned to return (Table 14). In the following tabulation, nongraduates' reasons for discontinuing their studies are presented under three headings: positive reasons, negative reasons, and neutral reasons. Positive reasons are those which are compatible with completing educational objectives. Negative reasons are judged by the writers as direct barriers to or dissatisfaction with resuming education at a later time. Neutral reasons represent postponement of educational activities or a redirection of interest, with the option to resume education unmarred by the action. Since multiple reasons were permitted, the total is greater than 100 percent.



TABLE 13

Reasons for Nongraduates Discontinuing Attendance

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				Pe	Percent by	/ Response Category ^a	Categor	ya				
Group	Z	Employ- ment	Marr- Iage	Marr-Military Financ. Iage Service Support	Lack of Flnanc. Support	Transfer to Another College	Moved to Another Area	Lack of Transpor- tation	Com- pleted Educa. Goal	Com- pleted Personal Educa. Adjust. Goal Prob.	Lack of Interest	Low Achieve- ment	Change of Educa. Goal	Other
						J,	Sex							
Male Female Total	2,122 750 2,912	RRR	986	20 - 12 - 12	525	~40	2=7	W Ø 4	~~	222	719	Q, 00 Q,		17
						čž	Race						٠	
White Minority	2,544	33	9 9	27	23.7	တက	6	w 0	no en	= 8	71	148	7 8	18
						Curric	Curricular Area							
Business Communications Engineering	1,640 67 943	320 3	222	222	227	<u> </u>	ស ស ស	4 W W	NWO	22=	ឆ្និកកិ	0.05	۲ <u>.</u> 28	<u>8 6 8</u>
Health Public Service Other			<u>8</u> 6 2	- ~ 4	2°2	<u> 4</u>	991	N - 4	トレで	2=~	27=	<u>r</u> ~ 4	<u>.</u>	825

allore than one response possible, therefore, totals may not equal 100%.



Reasons for Discontinuing	Percent
Positive Reasons	
Transferred	6
Completed educational goal	6 12
Negative Reasons	
Lack of Interest	16
Lack of finances	15
Personal adjustment	12
Low achievement	9
Lack of transportation	<u>4</u> 56
Neutral Reasons	
Employment	33
Marriage	19
Other, miscellaneous	18
Military service	15
Moved	7
Changed goal	7 99

When the responses were analyzed by sex and race, some differences in motivation could be seen (Table 13). The proportion of women who discontinued their community college studies because of marriage, moving, and lack of transportation was about twice that of men. Military service and college transfer were more frequently listed by men. Minority respondents more than whites noted lack of financial support, lack of transportation, personal adjustment problems, and low achievement.

Students from various curricular areas gave different reasons for discontinuing their studies. Health students reported leaving the community college to seek employment only half as frequently as did other students. Public service students cited marriage about half as often as did the other groups. Lack of financial support was clearly lowest in the public service sector. College transfer was mostly noted by students in the communications and public service groups. Business, engineering, and health students indicated discontinuation for lack of interest more often than other students. Low achievement was most often noted by those in health programs. Changes in educational goals were more frequently cited by health and communications students.

Two of three former students who were nongraduates indicated that they intended to return to a community college for additional work (Table 14). More men than women (67% and 58%) and more minorities than whites (74% and 63%) planned further study at the community college. Responses across curricular areas were fairly even.



TABLE 14

Nongraduates' Intentions of Returning to the Community College

		Percent by Respo	onse Category ^a
Group	N	Yes	No
	Sex		
Mule Female Total	1,984 727 2,711	67 58 65	33 42 35
	Race		
White Minority	2,365 346	63 74	37 26
	Curricular	Area	
Business Communications Engineering Health Public Service Other	1,505 64 868 80 170 24	64 70 64 59 79 54	36 30 36 41 21 46

 $^{^{\}rm a}{\rm Row}$ totals may vary as much as $\frac{\rm i}{2}$ percent in :everal cases due to cumulative rounding error.



SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This section consists of a summary of findings, implications of results, and recommendations for future research. The summary is presented in terms of the seven research questions investigated in this report. Implications are drawn from selected findings which the writers deem worthy of further attention.

Summary of Findings

former students engaged in since leaving community colleges? Seventytwo percent of former students had found full-time employment (Table I).
When other full-time pursuits were included (i.e., military, housewife,
full-time college), fully 90 percent of the respondents were gainfully
occupied on a full-time basis. Five percent were employed part-time and
three percent were unemployed.

Analyses by sex and race did not show large or unexpected differences. Women trailed men somewhat in full-time employment, but the percentage of women working part-time was twice that of men, and the percentage of women occupied in homemaking was 15 percent. About 10 percent fewer minority respondents were engaged in full-time activities. A greater percentage of minorities had part-time work, and proportionally more were unemployed (6% and 2%). There was little difference by either sex or race in percentage going on to full-time college study.

Some differences in postcollege endeavors were found across graduate and curricular variables. Greater percentages of graduates than nongraduates were employed full-time. Diploma graduates had higher rates of employment than either degree or certificate graduates. As expected, degree graduates led in full-time college enrollment. Another curricular areas, communications students were by far most freently enrolled in college (20%). Health students, who are mostly women, led in part-time employment and homemaking activities.

2. What proportions have engaged in activities directly related to their community college training and education? The large majority of former students reported working in jobs related to their college training. The frequency of much or some job congruence increased from 60 percent for first jobs to 72 percent for present jobs (Tables 4 and 5).

In both first and present jobs, women, graduates, and whites reported a higher percentage of job congruence than did their



counterparts. The curricular areas of public service and health showed a higher degree of present job congruence than did other areas. In the public service field, good job congruence may be related to the tendency of law enforcement employees to attend community colleges while continuing their jobs. The great demand for services of trained personnel in the health field tends to result in a high percentage of job congruence for them.

3. What were their initial and present salaries? The median salary for initial jobs after community coilege was \$5419; for present jobs the median had risen to \$7158 (Tables 7 and 8). The data on former students' salaries are difficult to interpret because they fail to account for differences in work experience prior to community college enrollment. Information about prior work history might help to explain wage differences among certain groups.

Men and whites earned higher salaries, in both initial and present jobs, than did women and minorities. Nongraduates received higher initial and present salaries than did graduates—possibly a function of prior work experience. As expected, certificate graduates earned proportionally less than their diploma and degree counterparts in both initial and present jobs.

The salaries of former students in business and communications were substantially lower than salaries for those in public service, engineering, and health. This salary differential may be related to the higher demand for skills in public service, engineering, and health areas.

- 4. What proportions have found employment within their home localities or within Virginia? More than nine of ten former students were working either in Virginia or Washington, D.C. (Table 2). Over eight of ten were employed within 50 miles of their former community college (Table 3). Minorities and women were more frequently working in the District of Columbia; this may be due to the emphasis on equal opportunity in government offices.
- 5. What proportions have continued their education and how consistent was that continued education with their community college programs? Approximately half of the former students pursued some type of post-community college training ranging from employer training programs to baccalaureate study (Table 10). Somewhat greater proportions of men and graduates than women and nongraduates sought further training. Engineering and health areas had the highest percentages engaged in employer training experiences. Public service areas led in students still enrolled at the community college; this finding may be related to the prevalence of part-time study among police officers and other full-time public service employees. Well over half of the nongraduates planned to return to the community college, a factor which varied little with sex. race, or program of study (Table 14).

The primary reasons given for pursuing further training were general education and satisfaction, on-the-job advancement, and skill improvement (Table II). Men, more than women, cited employer



expectations and desire for advancement as reasons for continuing education. While more minority and nongraduate respondents sought occupational changes, whites and graduates expressed more interest in the advancement and improving skills in present jobs.

Among types of graduates, AAS degree graduates exhibited by far the greatest interest in general education and personal satisfaction. Diploma graduates, much more than either AAS or certificate graduates, were oriented toward skill improvement and meeting employer expectations. Certificate graduates showed the greatest interest in changing occupation.

Three of four students who pursued further training reported that it had been at least somewhat related to their community college program (Table 12). Graduates reported a higher degree of relatedness, as did health and public service curricular groups. Degree graduates reported more relatedness between continued education and community college program than did diploma and certificate graduates.

6. What reasons were given by nongraduates for not continuing their community college programs? Employment was noted by one of three graduates as the reason for leaving community college. Other reasons, checked at about half the frequency of employment, included marriage, lack of interest, lack of financial support, military service, and personal adjustment.

There is a degree of cross-validation between stated postcollege activities (Table I) and reasons cited for leaving community colleges (Table I3). For example, women tended both to have become homemakers (15%) and to have indicated marriage as reason for discontinuing attendance. Similarly, many men were engaged in military service, and a roughly equivalent number cited military service as reason for leaving college.

Minority respondents checked lack of financial support, personal adjustment problems, low achievement, and lack of transportation more frequently than did white respondents. These reasons are commonly associated with low-income groups and thus with minority group membership.

It should be noted that although twelve comprehensive reasons for leaving college were presented (Table 13), one in five students elected to check 'Other'. Either there are independent reasons for leaving which were not included in the checklist, or many students were unable to explain why they had left community colleges.

7. What differences in postcollege activities vary with sex, race, curriculum, graduation status, and type of graduation credential? These differences have been noted in the preceding six questions and throughout the Results section.



Implications

In the following discussion, no attempt is made to deal with all the results. Rather, certain findings are presented in relationship to one another in order to draw some tentative conclusions about issues believed to be of major importance to community college educators.

Community college students from minority groups did not consider their initial jobs as satisfactory as did whites. Approximately one of two minority respondents reported that their first lobs were unrelated to college training programs, compared to one of three whites. In listing reasons for continuing education, minorities showed more interest than whites in changing jobs and less concern with improving opportunities, skills, and abilities in current jobs. It seems, then, that more minorities initially accepted unsatisfying jobs with few perceived opportunities for improvement or advancement. Many minority respondents succeeded in changing to jobs that were better related to college curricula. Present job congruence was far more evenly distributed among minorities and whites than was first iob congruence. Minority respondents whose present jobs were not related to curricula most often reported that they were not sufficiently qualified or that there were no jobs in their fields of preparation. More minorities than whites reported qualifying for new, unrelated jobs by continuing their education.

Former minority students also reported higher rates of unemployment and lower median salaries than whites. Six percent of minority respondents were unemployed, compared to two percent of whites. The difference between median incomes of whites and minorities rose from \$538 for initial jobs after community college to \$876 for present jobs.

An overall pattern of differential success by race in the job market is evident. Perhaps more resources can be mobilized at community colleges to counteract this pattern. Opportunities for learning about career opportunities and trends in the job market should be part of the overall educational program of community colleges. Counselors and placement personnel need to be aware of the differential success pattern, as do minority students. Placement services should include specific instruction in strategies for locating the best available jobs, developing resumes, and preparing for interviews.

Although women reported much greater job congruence for both first and present jobs than did men, a higher percentage of women reported no jobs in their field of preparation as reason for poor job congruence. A higher percentage of men reported working in another field because of better pay, a finding which may be related to salary differences for men and women. The difference between men's and women's median incomes rose from \$1608 for initial jobs after college to \$2621 for present jobs. The distribution of reported incomes shows that only one percent of the women earned initial salaries of \$9000 and over (compared to 11% of the men) and that only two percent earned present salaries of \$10,000 and over (compared to 21% of the men). Certainly there is more pressure on men to earn high salaries, both for status and support of dependents. However, increasing numbers of women have serious career interests and/or are supporting dependents.



Although nongraduate men earned considerably more than graduate men in present jobs, nongraduate women earned less than graduate women in both initial and present jobs. This difference for men and women may be related to relative ages of graduates and nongraduates by sex. Seventy-eight percent of male graduates were 25 or less at the time of the study, compared to 65 percent of male nongraduates. Thus, 13 percent more nongraduates had longer intervals between high school and college. Among the women the age difference by graduation status was almost negligible: 78 percent of the graduates and 76 percent of the nongraduates were 25 or less at the time of the study. Male nongraduates on the whole had more time to acquire work experience prior to attending community college than did male graduates, but no such pattern was found among women. Since nongraduate men reported higher incomes than graduate men, it seems likely that age is an underlying factor for the salary difference among men.

Although minorities reported more financial difficulties and adjustment problems than whites, in certain other areas they presented a more positive attitude toward community college education. A lower percentage of minorities than whites reported discontinuing attendance because of lack of interest, and three of four had intentions of returning to the community college. Lack of financial support, lack of transportation, personal adjustment problems, and low achievement were indicated far more frequently by minorities than whites as reasons for leaving college before graduating.

There seems to be need for more remedial education for entering students who do not possess adequate learning skills. Fourteen percent of the minority respondents and eight percent of the whites had discontinued studies because of low achievement. Extensive tutoring or other intensive remediation may be needed to enable these students to attain their goals. However, it is recognized that the developmental/remedial programs at the colleges have changed considerably since the period of enrollment which these respondents experienced.

Many of the findings for public service students can be related to characteristics of these people. Public service students tend to be men over 25 with prior work experience in police science. Many of them continue full-time employment locally while attending community college. It is not surprising, then, that public service students report least often discontinuing education because of marriage or lack of financial support and that they rank highest in salaries and percentages working near the community college.

Recommendations for Further Research

The writers recognize the need for further research in the area of occupational-technical program outcomes. Supplemental analyses of the data already collected could provide helpful information. Other questions could be fully dealt with only by collecting and analyzing additional data.



From the data already collected, the following research recommendation is made:

Personal and academic characteristics of former students need to be related more rigorously to their postcollege activities. The findings in this report were based on relationships of single factors to student outcomes. Sex, race, graduation status, type of graduation credential, and curricular area were successively and independently related to postcollege activities. To supplement this univariate analysis, there is value in conducting multivariate analysis to determine with greater accuracy the relative extents of relationships between each of these factors and postcollege activities.

The following research recommendations involve additional data collection but are closely related to the subject and findings of this report.

- 1. Age and prior work experience of former students, full-time and part-time attendance, and number of credit hours completed in occupational-technical programs need to be studied in relation to postcollege activities and achievements. The effects of community college education and training on former students may be affected by prior work experience and extent of exposure to occupationaltechnical courses. Increasing proportions of community college students are older adults with substantial work experience. As occupational-technical programs are traditionally designed for younger adults with little or no work experience, the effects of these programs on older adults should be investigated. Numbers of credit-hours in occupational-technical courses should also be taken into account for a more accurate evaluation of program effects on students.
- The initial expectations of community college students need to be studied in relation to postcollege activities. Given the increasing diversity of students attending community colleges, it is necessary to question whether students who enroll in certain program have similar expectations for the content of that program. Initial expectations may affect both college achievement and postcollege activities.
- Reasons for discontinuing attendance need to be studied in relation to preventive intervention by community college personnel. Since so many students leave the community college before graduating, it is worthwhile to investigate ways of preventing students from dropping out, whenever their aspirations would be better served by continued college attendance. The roles and responsibilities of various college personnel for helping students to complete their programs should be examined and useful role modifications should be developed. Other means of preventing students from dropping out of the system unnecessarily need to be determined.



4. Postcollege achievement of former occupational-technical students should be compared with that of other students.

Norm groups from different types of institutions such as technical institutes and traditional junior colleges might provide useful sources of comparison for occupational-technical students at community colleges. It could also be helpful to compare postcollege achievement of occupational-technical students to that of students in other community college programs. Such comparisons may be very useful in identifying the unique services provided by community college occupational-technical programs.



REFERENCES

- Bushnell, D. C. Organizing for change: New priorities for community colleges. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1973.
- Cross, K. P. Beyond the open door. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1971.
- Gaddis, G. W. Project "follow-up" interim report (ERIC No. ED 048 496).

 Sait Lake City: Utah Research Coordinating Unit for Vocational and Technical Education, 1970.
- Gustilo, T. O. & Trufant, J. E. <u>Profile of former occupational-technical students</u> (Research Report No. 2). Richmond: Virginia Department of Community Colleges, 1974.
- Hawaii community college vocational-technical follow-up studies, 1968-1971 (ERIC No. 066155). Honolulu: University of Hawaii, 1972.
- Koos, L. V. The community college student. Gainesville: University of Florida Press, 1970.
- Monroe, C. R. <u>Profile of the community college</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1972.
- Research in education annual index 1970 (ERIC No. ED 031 605 042 060).

 Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1970.
- Research in education annual index 1971 (ERIC No. ED 042 061 054 390).

 Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1971.
- Research in education annual Index 1972 (ERIC No. ED 054 391 066 620).

 Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1972.
- Snyder, F. A., Selgas, J., & Blocker, C. E. The employment of career graduates (ERIC No. 065 117). Harrisburg, Pennsy' :: la: Harrisburg Area Community College, 1972.
- Status of spring 1971 graduates (ERIC No. ED 068 091). Portland, Oregon:
 Portland Community College, 1972.
- Thornton, J. W., Jr. The community junior college (3rd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1972.
- Trufant, J. E., Kelly, S. J., & Pullen, P. T. Attitudes of former occupational-technical students toward the community college experience and postcollege activities (Research Report No. 4). Richmond: Virginia Department of Community Colleges, 1974.





APPENDIK A

COLLEGE DATA FORM

Colty.		Code	5 5	Virginia compunity collece system Data elemenis foa former students	IV COLLECE SYSTEM 1 Former Students			Outs Preceded							# .	7	
Person Comp.etung Form				Pléase Paint	please print all entries			.21	•	1943	1367	1161	6.; ;.a	t	ē.	ŀ	,
	PAME	4		HOME ADDRESS		ğ	111	}	1	-	1	 				1	
Soc at Security Number	15; Cent	(61 175 Ferm MD	Number	15 %	3.5	NINS	ę.	B to weY	Home	Anthusia Charter V	NV 3 15H4	Currentu Coursenson	on a star a	uin i tre J ————— Ciedira i	Cumustin	Dicker CPA	Year Supplies
-								-	\vdash	-	-	\vdash			_	_	
3									-	-		-	-		-	_	}_
*									-	-	-	-		_	<u> </u>	 - -	-
									-	-	 -	┝	-		-	 -	
ŧ									-	-	+	-	-			-	_
ł									-	-	 	-		_	_		
į									-	-	 -	\vdash	_	_	_		-
*									-	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	
									-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	_
*								-	-	-	-	\vdash	-	<u> </u> 			-
1									-		-		_		-		
i									-	-	-	_				-	_
										-		-	_		_	 	
1												-	-			-	
1									-		-	-	_	_	_	_	
								† ~	-	 	-	-	-	-	_		ļ
ŧ									-			_				_	-
1											-	-		_	_		
1									-	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	<u> </u>
ı						-			-		-	-	_	-	_		ļ
•								 				-	-		_	-	
1									-		-		_				
									Н					-			
!																	

NOTE: Actual size of this form is 11" x 16 1/2"



APPENDIX B SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

VIRGINIA COMMUNITY COLLEGE SYSTEM SURVEY OF FORMER STUDENTS SPRING, 1972

Dear Former Student:

Community colleges in Virginia are still in their early stages of growth, and we are searching for ways to improve our educational programs.

To help us, we ask you to complete this questionneire. It requires information about your current

	activities and your earlier community college expetime to complete. Your responses will be groupe used only for this study.			!
	Please complete the questionnaire and return it to return envelope is enclosed for your convenience.		s and stamp	ed
	Thank you for your help.			
	Very truly yours,			
	Taul abrigate			
	Fred A. Snyder, Director Research & Planning Division Virginia Department of Community Colleges			
U	ECTIONS: SE PENCIL ONLY. MARK THE BOX X PPOSITE EACH ITEM THAT BEST REPRE-			
Š	ENTS YOUR ANSWER(S) COMPLETELY RASE ANY ANSWERS YOU WISH TO CHANGE.	(Please correct name and add	ress if necess	iery)
	e following is needed as information about all opportunity for education or employment.)	2. Show your father's and your meducational level.	_	
1 co	ensider myself as:		Father	Mother
¹ 🖂	White	Under 8 years	, <u> </u>	
Ž	Black or Afro-American	Completed 8th grade	<u> </u>	
, U	American Indian	Attended high school	³ 🗖	
4		High school graduate	4 🗆	
ם, ה	Oriental	Attended college	5□	
	Spanish surnamed American	Four-year college graduate	°□	
۰ロ	Other (specify)	Master's or higher degree	70	
	ther's type of work. If he is retired or deceased, refe	er to his former jab.		
, 🗆	Clerical and Sales - bank teller, salesman, office	or sales clerk, etc.		
. 🗆	Managerial or Office Occupations - office or sale	s manager, bank officer, etc.		
³ □	Professional - CPA, dentist, engineer, teacher, mi	ilitary officer, etc.		
4 🗆	Proprietor or Owner - farm owner, owner of a si	mall business, etc.		
יבי	Semi-professional and Technical - engineering tec	chnician, dental technician, practical num	ie, surveyor,	etc.
"□	Semi-skilled worker - machine operator, bus driv	er, meat cutter, etc.	• •	5
' □	Service worker - barber, policeman, waiter, firem	·		4076
**	Skilled worker or foremen - baker, carpenter, eld	•		2
°C	Unskilled worker - laborer, filling station attends			עק
""	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	mine smill seminale are:		
""	Unemployed	CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE -		لے ۔
لسا	Unknown			



BEST COPY AVAILABLE

4. Your Marital Status.		Was the curriculus			
Single		Your present job	e reinteu	to your ins	c Ido:
Married	1			First Job	Present Job
Other		Yes, very m	uch	: •	~ :
man a construction of the	4	Yes, somewi	1 a t		
8. Mark the one item that best describes your present employment or related status.		No, or very	little		
Full-time employment	1	If your present jo community colleg each reason which	e curricu	lum, please	our check
Part-time employment	I		• •		.
College full-time		Could no	_	•	of preparation
Military service		. Found be	etter pay	ing job in an	other field
Housewife	1 .			in another	
Unemployed		<u>education</u>	n	job by cont	• •
Other (specify)		Was not job in m	sufficient y field of	lly qualified college pre	for a paration
IF YOU HAVE NEVER BEEN EMPLOYED FULL-TIME SINCE LEAVING THE COLLEGE, GO DIRECTLY TO		Other (s	pecify)_	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
QUESTION 14.	10.	Please indicate b	oth your	initial year!	/
6. Show the state in which you presently work.		salary upon leave and your present tion will not be	salary. identified	This inform I with you a	18- 1
Virginia		an individual, bu that from other	t will be former st	grouped wit ludents.}	n
Maryland		total Antonia		,	Decemb Onlone
West Virginia		Initial Salary		i	Present Salary
North Carolina		•	Up to \$	2,999	
Tennessee		÷.	\$3,000	- 3,999	· •••
District of Columbia			\$4,000	- 4,999	
Kentucky	1	. 그	\$5,000	- 5,999	,□
Another state (specify)	1	<u> </u>	\$6,000	- 6,999	<u>' 🗔 </u>
7. Show the approximate distance of your	1	. 🗖	\$7,000	- 7,999	"コ
present employment from your former community college.	1	:1	\$8,000	8,999	' □
Up to 25 miles	1		\$9,000	- 9,999	,
25 – 49 miles		· Ξi	- •	- 10,999	
50 - 99 miles		; ; ,) 11,999	' - "]
		. ••	•	·	. –
100 miles and over 11. Please rate your satisfaction with your present job in termark one answer for each aspect.	rms of ea	nch of the aspects		etow.	• !
a. Chattanana and interestana wash	•	•••		ש	
a. Challenging and interesting work				<u>гі</u>	
b. Relations with colleagues	,	11.8		·•••	
c. Salary	:	• •	1]	<u>ن</u> ج	
d. Opportunity for advancement	:.		÷	•	
e. Overall aspects of your job			i.j	[.]	



BEST COPY AVAILABLE

12.	cettin	e mark the one source most helpful in ig your initial full-time job upon leaving ommunity college. Mark one only.	15.	since	leavin	continued y g the commi reason for su ning which a	inity college ch further e	iduca. i. bie ste	
ι		Community college placement service		tion (ming which a prepare for fi			10
	. ,	College staft member other than a placement service			in m	mprove my 1	cupation		•
	• •	Employer contact at the college			in m	y present joi	•		
	•	State employment service			Date:	my own gen onal satisfact	igų isti idricati	on and	
	l;	Answered an advertisement		;	To	change occup	ation	•	
٠	(2	Relative or friend		E 4 Nam		expected of		* -	
:	,	Other (specify)			Othe	er (specify)			
13.	feetis	e mark (X) each statement which shows your ngs about the help you obtained at the community ge in getting your first job upon leaving.	16.	the c	anmu a	rriculum you nity college (ou have conti	related to v	our later	
t		The placement office was helpful	•	q	Yes,	very much	1	No, or ver	, little
	:.	Faculty members were helpful			Yes,	somewhat			
	<u>. </u>	Little help was given to me or others in my curriculum	17.	Did y	you at	any time ch	ange from (at the comm	one currice	ege?
•	-	Faculty members were willing to help, but didn't seem to know what opportunities were available	-••	•	Yas		No ·		
	•	Job placement service was not adequate	19.	mark	ur and the r	swer to quest reason(s) for elow.	tion 17 was changing yo	Yes, pleas our curricul	e lum
ALL P	ERSO	ns should answer questions 14 thru 22							
14.	educ	what extent have you continued your attom since leaving the community age? Mark each statement that applies.		-	_	atisfied with atisfied with			
		Still enrolled at the community college		•	Lov	v achievemen	t		
		None			Los	s of interest			
	••	Completed one or more employer			Dan	conal problem	n		
,	_	training program Took courses at another two-year		100		•		-1-4	
	•	college			_	de opportuni		BICI	
	. } 	Took courses at a four-year college or university		اب. بسر	Pan	ents objected	Ì		
•		Completed an associate degree		A		inselor's advi wrong choice		ım in ehe	
	` : :	Completed a bachelor's degree	ŀ	1		t place	Of Culticus	111 111 tole	
•	•	Completed mester's degree or beyond		4.1.2	Cha	inged career	goal(s)		
	;	Other (specify)		1.1	Oth	ner (specify)			
19	the	eld you recommend the community college to a persor same program you studied?					Yes		No
20	. Hov Mar	y well did the community college prepare you in each k only one answer for each aspect.	of the	follow Supe		pects? Good	Fair	Poor	
	•	. Technical knowledge and understanding		Ľ	\				
		o, Job or learning skills			3	D			_
		Getting along with people		r	ב				2
		d. Self-understanding		Ī	<u> </u>	ā			407
		~		ŗ	<u> </u>				177
		b. Knowledge about career opportunities in your field			ے ا	<u> </u>			ณ
	1	f. Communication skills (oral or written)			_				
	9	g, General education		C	3				1
		•		14 ,			•		



BEST COPY AVAILABLE

	Mark only one answer for each aspect.	Highly Valuable	Valuable	Some Value	Little or No Value
	a. Technical knowledge and understanding	13			
	b. Job or learning skills	[7]		Li	
	c. Getting along with people	LJ		12	
	d. Self-understanding			口	
	e. Knowledge about career opportunities in your field				
	f. Communication skills (graf or written)				
	··			. 🗖	
	g. General education se give your opinion atlout each of the following aspec		v college exc	erience.	
Mark	conly one answer for each aspect.	to the family of			,
		Superior	Good	Fair	Poor
	a. Shop and laboratory instruction				
	b. Academic instruction				[]
	c. Shop and laboratory facilities and equipment			Ü	
	d. All other college facilities				
	e. Counseling given to students				
	f. Social activities				
	g. Interest in students shown by faculty				
	h. Evaluation of students' performance by faculty				Ü
	i. Overall				
in e	OSE WHO EARNED A CERTIFICATE, DIPLOMA, Overy occupational technical curriculum, there is a "min spreparation and (b) general education. Please show	t" of courses in (a) a the proportional "mi	oplied techni	eal and	R QUESTION
that]	you would like to see in your curriculum at your cor	millimity Conege.			
1	O.K. as is. Don't change it.	ille asass			
1	Increase the proportion of courses in technical and sk				
;	Increase the proportion of courses in general education				
WF R	10SE WHO DID NOT COMPLETE AN EDUCATIONA QUESTIONS 24 THRU 27.	L PROGRAM AT T 26. What principal discontinue att	reason(s) mai	de vou dec	ide to
VOU	t was your primary educational goal when mittally enrolled at the community college?	college? Mark	each that app	olies.	mpleted my
	k one only. Earn a certificate or diploma to improve my	Employn		ed ed	ucational goal
	employment and career skills.	Marriage		Pe	rsonal adjust- ent problem
•	Earn an associate dogree or a higher degree	Entered service		La La	ck of interest
		support	financial red_to !	'1 2 Ch	w achievemen ange in educa
	Upgrade technical knowledge and skills in specific fields by taking just one or several courses	· r Transfer	aallana		
	specific fields by taking just one or several	another Moved to	COHege COHege		nal goal ther
•	specific fields by taking just one or several courses Increase my general knowledge and level	another Moved to another	COHege COHege	O1	. •



APPENDIX C

CURRICULAR AREAS

Business

Accounting Technology/Accounting
Data Processing (Program/Unit Record)
Data Processing (Mach. & Comp. Opr./Keypunch)
Business Management/General Business
Hotel, Restaurant & Institutional Management
Merchandising Management/General Merchandising
Real Estate Management
Stenography/Clerical Studies
Secretarial Science

Communications and Media

Commercial Art/Printing

Engineering

Architectural Technology Aeronautical Technology Automotive Technology Auto Trades (Analysis & Repair, Body Repair, Diagnosis, Engine, Diesel, Auto Mechanics) Chemical Technology Civil Engineering Technology/Civil Technology Drafting and Design Technology/Drafting and Design Drafting Trades (Drafting, Mech., Arch., Struct.) Industrial Management/Technology Electronic Technology/Electrical Technology Electronic Trades Machine Technology/Trades Marine Technology Mechanical Engineering Technology/Mechanical Technology Building Trades (Air Cond. and Refr., Masonry, Plbg., Sh. Metal, Weld., Carpentry) Textile Management

Health Service

Dental Laboratory Technology/Dental Assistance
Medical Laboratory Technology
Medical Records Technology
Mental Health Technology
Mortuary Science
Nursing
Practical Nursing
Radiological Technology



· BEST COPY AVAILABLE

Fridia Jervice

Community & Social Service Technology/Assistant Fire Science/Firefighting Recreation and Parks Leadership Folice Science/Corrections/Law Enforcement Environmental Technology

Other

Agricultural Business Technology Forest Technology Teacher Aide (Library/Audio Visual) Developmental/Unclassified

> UNIVERSITY OF CALIF. LOS ANGELES

> > MAR 14 1975

CLEARINGHOUSE FOR JUNIOR COLLEGE INFORMATION

